1968

Monroe City v. Charles L. Arnold, Norris K.
Arnold and John R. Arnold D/B/A Arnold Hog
Ranch : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Suit by third-class city to restrain and abate operation of commercial piggery on outskirts of town as a public nuisance.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

District Court found operation of piggery to be a public nuisance and ordered operation abated and restrained further operation by Defendant of a commercial piggery in the City of Monroe.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant - Appellant seeks an order vacating the judgment and order of the District Court and dismissing this action, or for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action is filed by the Plaintiff in its capacity as a third-class municipal corporation of 850 people (R. 163) alleging that it has a right and duty to take such action for the benefit of its inhabitants. (R. 1)

The pleadings named Charles L. Arnold, an individual, as the sole defendant. (R. 1) The answer filed by Charles L. Arnold denied that he had done the acts charged in the complaint (R. 5, fourth defense). The Defendant Charles L. Arnold was merely an employee of a partnership operated by his sons, Norris K. Arnold and John R. Arnold, known as Arnold Hog Ranch (R. 8, 10, 13, 17, 19, 21, 53, 54, 55, 56, 136).

Over the objections of the Defendant, Charles L. Arnold and during the course of the trial the Court ordered Norris K. Arnold and John R. Arnold added as defendants in their partnership capacity as Arnold Hog Ranch without service of summons, amendment of pleadings, etc. (R. 56, 57). The Court relied on Rule 21, URCP and the fact that said persons had received notice of the proceedings and had employed counsel to defend Charles L. Arnold. (R. 63, 175, 176).

The Court refused to receive evidence concerning similar agricultural use being made generally by many other residents in Monroe City (R. 134, 135, 151, 152, 197), claiming that existance of one nuisance does not create a license to establish another nuisance. (R. 134, 135, 151, 152, 197), and rejected argument that reasonableness of use should be measured by the use to which other persons similarly situated put their land (R. 138, 151, 152).

Defendant produced an aerial photograph of the City of Monroe (Exhibit "E") with colored slides (Ex. "F") keyed to the photograph which depicted 19 commercial livestock operations in Monroe and the probable source of much of the odor complained of by witnesses, which offer of proof was rejected by the Court (R. 151, 152, 197).

The hog ranch in question is situated one half block on the South of the last street on the South edge of Monroe City. (Item #20 on the overlay attached to the aerial photograph marked exhibit "E") There are a few houses scattered along the North side of that street, but no houses South of the hog ranch. It is suggested that the aerial photograph, overlay and slides be used to explain the physical setting.

The hog ranch is modern, with cement floors in most areas, sanitary farrowing sheds and facilities, automatic watering and feeding equipment, chemical controls are used to control flies and rodents, the pens are cleaned daily and only hay and dry commercial feed consisting primarily of grain, minerals, vitamins, antibiotics and supplements are fed. No garbage or waste is fed. The pens and sheds are kept clean and dry. The pigs are not permitted to accumulate or to wallow in mud or muck. (R. 49, 58-63, 139-143, 166).

ARGUMENT POINT I

MONROE CITY HAS NO POWER TO SUE TO ABATE OR ENJOIN A NUISANCE

Several reasons exist why Monroe City cannot prosecute this action in the manner attempted in this lawsuit,

which disabilities render the judgment entered herein void. Some of those reasons are as follows:

(a) *Monroe City is not the real party in interest:*

Rule 17(a), URCP, reads in part as follows:

“Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest; . . . when a statute so provides, an action for the use or benefit of another shall be brought in the name of the State of Utah.” (Emphasis added)

Monroe City claims to have the right and duty to bring this action for the use and benefit of its citizens (R. 1, Par. 1), however this action is not brought in the name of the State of Utah as required by Rule 17(a). Defendant is entitled to have a cause of action prosecuted by the real party in interest so that the judgment will preclude any action on the same demand by another, and so that the defendant will be permitted to assert all defenses available against the real owner of the cause. *Shaw v. Jeppson*, 121 U. 155, 239 P.2d 745.

This action is to abate and to enjoin an alleged nuisance. The right to maintain an action for nuisance is defined in 78-38-1, UCA, 1953, which reads as follows:

“Anything which is injurious to health, or indecent, or offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, is a nuisance and the subject of an action. Such action may be brought by any person whose property is injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by nuisance; and by the judgment the nuisance may be enjoined or abated, and damages may also be recovered.” (Emphasis added)

The lawsuit is entirely for the benefit of the inhabitants of Monroe City (R. 1, Par. 1) and not for the benefit of Monroe City Corporation whose property is not claimed to have been "injuriously affected". The real party in interest and the only party who can bring this action is a property owner in Monroe City whose property is allegedly "injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by . . ." the alleged nuisance, or by the city health department in the name of the State of Utah if the alleged nuisance is dangerous to health or life as provided in 26-5-5, UCA, 1953.

(b) *Powers granted to Monroe City can only be exercised by adopting and enforcing ordinances.*

Monroe City as a Municipal Corporation possesses only those powers conferred upon it by express legislative enactment. *Tooele City v. Elkington*, 100 U. 485, 116 P.2d 406; *Stevenson v. Salt Lake City*, 7 U. 2d 28, 317 P.2d 597. Those powers can only be exercised by the enactment and enforcement of municipal ordinances as provided by 10-5-6, and 10-7-2, UCA, 1953, which read in part as follows:

"10-5-6. The . . . *city council* in cities of the third class . . . *are and shall be the legislative and governing bodies of such cities and towns, and as such shall have, exercise and discharge all of the rights, powers and privileges and authority conferred by law upon their respective cities, towns or bodies, . . .*" (Emphasis added)

and

"10-7-2. When by this title power is conferred upon the . . . *city council . . . to do and perform any act*

or thing and the manner of exercising the same is not specifically pointed out, *the . . . city council . . . may provide by ordinance the manner and details necessary for the full exercise of such powers.*" (Emphasis added)

Plaintiff failed to sustain its burden of proof by failing to prove that it had exercised the powers which it claims were conferred upon it by 10-8-60 and 10-8-67 and which Plaintiff claims authorizes it to prosecute this action. Those statutes which confer powers upon cities read in part as follows:

"10-8-60. *They may declare what shall be a nuisance, and abate the same, and impose fines upon persons who create, continue or suffer nuisances to exist.*" (Emphasis added)

"10-8-67. They may prohibit any offensive, unwholesome business or establishment in and within one mile of the limits of the corporation, *compel the owner of any pigsty, privy, barn, corral, sewer or other place to cleanse, abate or remove the same, and may regulate the location thereof.*" (Emphasis added)

The statutes quoted above require that as a condition precedent to Monroe City exercising the powers therein mentioned the city council must adopt ordinances which "declare" Defendant's hog farm to be a nuisance. The court cannot take judicial notice of city ordinances. *State v. Butcher*, 74 U. 275, 279 P. 497. Enactment of an ordinance to take advantage of the delegated powers is a condition precedent to exercise of those powers. If no ordinance has been adopted or other appropriate action taken by the city council to implement the power conferred by statute, Monroe City has no more power than

if those statutes had never been enacted. The right to exercise those powers cannot be delegated to the City Attorney. Art. VI, Sec. 29, Utah Constitution.

The powers conferred upon Monroe City by 10-5-6 and 10-7-2 UCA, 1953, quoted on page 5 are expressly limited by 10-8-84, UCA, 1953, to the enactment and enforcement by Monroe City of ordinances which carry those powers into effect, and does not confer upon Monroe City the power to bring this lawsuit as claimed by Plaintiff. That statute reads in part as follows:

“10-8-84. They (cities) may pass all ordinances and rules, and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and such as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, . . . improve . . . the comfort and convenience of the city and of the inhabitants thereof, and for the protection of property therein; and may enforce obedience to such ordinance with such fines or penalties as they may deem proper; . . . ” (Emphasis added)

The above statute authorizes Monroe City to adopt “ordinances,” “rules,” and “regulations” “necessary” to “carry into effect” “all powers” conferred by Chapter 8 of Title 10, UCA, 1953. Both 10-8-60 and 10-8-67, UCA, 1953, relied upon by Plaintiff to authorize this lawsuit are part of Chapter 8 and accordingly can only be exercised by the adoption and enforcement of ordinances, rules and regulations as provided by 10-8-84, UCA, 1953, quoted above. A municipal corporation may exercise only the powers granted, and in the manner prescribed. *Tooele City v. Elkington*, 100 U. 485, 116 P.2d 406. *Monroe*

City has no power to ignore the legislative mandate and to elect to select another unauthorized method of enforcement of its power by bringing this action. 37 Am Jur. Mun. Corp. 731, Sec. 117.

(c) *Monroe City must bring action in manner prescribed by statute.*

The legislature has delegated certain police powers of the state to municipal corporations, however crime prevention, protections of health, etc. are functions of the state rather than of any subdivision thereof, and the officers appointed are public officers whose duties are defined by law, and they serve the people of the whole state rather than the municipality which appoints them. 37 Am. Jur. 745, Sec. 131;

The legislature has by 10-7-3, UCA, 1953, required all cities to establish by ordinance a board of health for their city, which has power granted by 26-5-1, UCA, 1953, to:

“ . . . supervise all matters pertaining to the sanitary condition of its . . . city, and *shall have power and authority to order nuisances . . . to be abated or removed.*”

and is required by 26-5-5, UCA, 1953, to abate nuisances in the manner prescribed by that statute which reads in part as follows:

“26-5-5. ABATEMENT OF NUISANCE.—Each local board of health shall cause every nuisance dangerous to health or human life to be abated. When complaint of such nuisance is made it shall forthwith cause the matter to be investigated and shall determine whether or not the alleged nuisance is detrimental to the public health or the cause of any disease or mortality.

Whenever a local board of health shall determine that a nuisance detrimental to health exists it shall in writing notify the occupant of the premises where the same may be found or, if unoccupied, the owner or agent thereof of such finding and shall order the abatement or removal of such nuisance within two days. If such nuisance is not abated or removed pursuant to such order, the board may summarily proceed to abate or remove the same, or it may cause an action to be brought in the name of the state by the county attorney for the abatement of such nuisance." (Emphasis added)

The evidence in this case shows that Monroe failed to make a determination that Defendant was creating a health hazard, that it failed to give written notice to the owner or occupant of the premises, failed to order an abatement or removal of the alleged nuisance, (R. 57) all of which are conditions precedent to the right of the Monroe City Health Department to abate the alleged nuisance. *Such an action also must be brought in the name of the State of Utah as required by that statute, and must be prosecuted by the County Attorney, not the City Attorney.* Regulation of health is a function of the State, not of a municipal corporation, and 26-5-5, UCA, 1953, quoted above, prohibits the City of Monroe from maintaining any such action except through the properly designated Board of Health officials who are responsible to the state, not to the Municipal corporation. (See discussion on page 8 of this brief). The findings of the Court (R. 29, par. 7 & 8) purport to find that the alleged nuisance is detrimental to health, which if true establishes that the court lacks jurisdiction to grant a judgment in this matter since the power to sue to abate nuisances of that type has been reserved to the State of

Utah and has not been delegated to Monroe City, except to the extent that the Monroe City Board of Health (who are officers of the state) can bring an action in the name of the State of Utah. Where the statute prescribes a mode by which a particular act is to be done the prescribed mode must be followed if the act is to be valid. 37 Am Jur. Mun. Corp. 731, Sec. 117; Tooele City v. Elkington, 116 P. 2d 406, 100 U. 485; Smith v. City of Bozeman, 398 P. 2d 462, 144 Mont. 528; Stevenson v. Salt Lake City Corp., 317 P. 2d 597, 7 U. 2d 28.

POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN SUBSTITUTING PARTIES DURING THE TRIAL OVER OBJECTIONS AND WITHOUT AMENDING PLEADINGS, SERVING SUMMONS, PERMITTING ANSWER, ETC.

While the first witness was testifying it became apparent that Plaintiff had sued an employee of the Arnold Hog Ranch partnership but had not sued the partnership or any member thereof. The employee had delivered summons to a member of the partnership who had employed counsel to defend the employee in this action. Both partners were present in court as witnesses. The Court ordered the partnership added as a party and proceeded with the trial without service of summons, permitting them to answer the complaint, to engage in discovery proceedings or to otherwise prepare for trial defendant, allegedly under provisions of Rule 21, URCP, and over the objections of the defendant and the persons who were joined. (R. 8, 10, 13, 17, 19, 21, 53 - 56, 63, 175, 176). The judgment shows however that the employee was dropped as an individual party defendant, that the

partnership was added and that the name of the employee was improperly named as a member of the partnership.

The Court misconceived the intent of Rule 21 by attempting to use it to substitute a new party defendant. Rule 21 is intended to afford relief to a plaintiff who sues too many or too few defendants, rather than one who sues the wrong party, and it contemplates the retention of one or more parties against whom the action can proceed and cannot be resorted to as a method of substituting one party for another. Barron & Holtzoff, Vol. 2, P. 218;

The attention of the Court is invited to the designation of the Defendant in the findings and judgment (R. 28-31) and in the record on appeal as "CHARLES L. ARNOLD, NORRIS K. ARNOLD and JOHN R. ARNOLD d/b/a Arnold Hog Ranch." Charles L. Arnold has been dropped from the case as an individual and the judgment is against he and his sons in their joint capacity as alleged partners and binds their joint property of said alleged partnership only. The judgment as entered is not a judgment against Charles L. Arnold individually except so far as he has a property interest in the Arnold Hog Ranch Partnership. Rule 17(d), URCP; Hammer v. Ballantyne, 16 U. 436, 52 P. 770, 67 Am. St. Rep. 643; Blyth & Fargo Co. v. Swenson, 15 U. 345, 49 Pac. 1027; 39 Am Jur Parties 957-959. Rule 25 concerning substitution of parties is not applicable to our situation. The Court had no jurisdiction or power to proceed against the new defendant without the consent of that defendant and a stipulation by the existing, and without a complaint that requested relief against the new, defendant. 39 Am. Jur. Parties

958; Noonan v. Caledonia Gold Mining Co., 121 US 393, 39 L ed 1061, 7 S Ct 911. Rule 4(c), URCP, provides in part as follows:

“The court shall have jurisdiction from the time of filing the complaint or service of summons.”

The jurisdiction of the court has not been invoked against the new defendant since no summons has been served or complaint filed as required by Rule 4(c), URCP, which would give the court jurisdiction over that party. The court has no right to adjudicate property rights of persons who are not parties to the action and who are total strangers to the record. Houser v. Smith, 19 U. 150, 56 P. 683. Rule 19 (b), URCP, requires the service of summons when even a non-indispensable person ought to be joined in an action. Certainly the same rule should apply where the suit has been filed against the wrong party or where an indispensable party is to be joined.

POINT III

ABATEMENT OF HOG RANCH AND INJUNCTION AGAINST ITS OPERATION IS UNAUTHORIZED, UNNECESSARY AND EXCESSIVE IN THIS CASE.

Injunctive relief is proper only to restrain inflicting of substantial, serious and irreparable damages to the party seeking injunctive relief and where there is no adequate remedy at law. Rule 65A(e) (2) and (3), URCP; McGregor v. Silver King Min. Co., 14 U. 47, 45 P. 1091; 29 Am. Jur. Injunctions 216, Sec. 23, et seq.

(a) *Monroe City is not authorized to sue for injunction*

In a proper case an actionable nuisance may be enjoined in an action filed by a person “ . . . whose property

is injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by nuisance; . . . ” 78-38-1, UCA, 1953. The powers granted to Monroe City by 10-8-60, UCA, 1953, to “declare what shall be a nuisance and abate the same,” and by 10-8-67, UCA, 1953, to “ . . . compel the owner of any pigsty . . . to cleanse, abate or remove the same . . . ” can only be exercised by the enactment and enforcement of city ordinances as provided by 10-5-6, 10-7-2, 10-8-60 and 10-8-84, UCA, 1953. See discussion on pages 4 - 7. Monroe City simply has no power to maintain an action for an injunction to enjoin the operation of a hog ranch except in the name of the State of Utah to abate an condition dangerous to human life. (See discussion on page No. 8 - 9)

(b) *The court erred in refusing to allow evidence concerning other commercial livestock operations in Monroe City.*

Monroe City is a country town of approximately 850 inhabitants, who are primarily engaged in agricultural activities, which has at least 20 commercial livestock operations located within its city limits. The Arnold Hog Ranch is located South of the populated section of Monroe City and ½ block South of the last street on the South edge of town. Defendant offered into evidence an aerial photograph of Monroe City (Exhibit “E”) with an overlay which shows the location of each of the 20 commercial livestock operations, and various colored slide photographs (Exhibit “F”) of each of those commercial livestock operations which depict the type of operation, including the muck, mire, manure, debris, area, livestock, etc. existing in each operation a few days before the trial. The numbers in the right-bottom corner of the slides are

referred to in the transcript, however for ease of correlation between the overlay and the slides, numbers on gummed labels have been added in the left-upper corner of each slide which correspond with the same number large for the area depicted on the overlay.

The overlay, slides and testimony pertaining thereto were offered to illustrate and explain that Monroe City has a large number of other commercial livestock operations located within the city limits (which extend beyond the area depicted on the aerial photograph), to show the reasonableness of the use complained of in the Monroe City locality and the probable other sources of the alleged unpleasant odors attributed by Plaintiff's witnesses to the Arnold Hog Ranch. (R. 151, 153, 194-196). The court rejected the slides (Exhibit "F") and the proffered testimony concerning the other commercial livestock operations in Monroe City on the theory that the alleged existence of one nuisance does not justify the establishment or continuance of another nuisance as stated by this Court in *Ludlow v. Colorado Animal By-Products Co.*, where injunctive relief was denied. 104 U. 221, 229, 137 P. 2d 347, 352. (R. 151, 197). We agree with the rule of law stated in the *Ludlow* case, however that rule cannot be applied until the court first applies the *nuisance test of the reasonableness of the use complained of in the particular locality and in the manner and under the circumstances of the case* stated by this court in the case of *Dahl v. Utah Oil Refining Co.*, 71 U. 1, 11, 262 P. 269. *Cannon v. Neuberger*, 1 U. (2d) 396, 298 P. 2d 425; *Coon v. Utah Construction*, 228 P. 2d 997.

In the *Ludlow* case odors from the rendering plant were obnoxious to such a degree that it was impossible

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