1968

# Monroe City v. Charles L. Arnold, Norris K. Arnold and John R. Arnold D/B/A Arnold Hog Ranch : Brief of Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### MONROE CITY HAS THE POWER AND OBLIGATION TO ABATE OR ENJOIN A NUISANCE.

Monroe City is a city of third class in the State of Utah. It derives its powers as a subdivision of the State of Utah by specific legislative enactment. The legislature has adopted the following two statutes which have granted Monroe City the power to abate a nuisance:

“Section 10-8-60, Utah Code Annotated, 1953:

They may declare what shall be a nuisance, and abate the same, and impose fines upon persons who may create, continue or suffer nuisances to exist.

Section 10-8-67, Utah Code Annotated, 1953:

Pigsties, privies—Prohibiting establishment. They may prohibit any offensive, unwholesome business or establishment in and within one mile of the limits of the corporation, compel the owner of any pigsty, privy, barn, corral, sewer, or other unwholesome or nauseous house or place to cleanse, abate or remove the same, and may regulate the location thereof.”

The foregoing emphasis by underlining has been added by us.

The general rule concerning whether a municipal corporation may be a party plaintiff seeking injunctive relief has been stated in Section 281, Municipal Corporations, in Vol-

ume 62 of Corpus Juris Secundum, at Page 632. It is as follows:

“As a general rule a municipal corporation may maintain an equitable action or a proceedings in the nature thereof to aid in compelling the abatement of a nuisance. A municipality may sue in equity to compel the abatement of a nuisance affecting matters confided to it in its governmental capacity although it has suffered no special damages therefor and equitable relief may also be obtained in the name of the municipal corporation because of special injury, either to property owned by the corporation or to property to which it stands in a trust relation for the benefit of the public.”

It is clearly apparent from the cited legislation found in Title 10 of Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that municipalities of the state are given the obligation and authority to take some action to regulate nuisances and also to “abate the same”. A city has the alternative of providing by ordinance a system of regulation and fines in criminal proceedings. It also has the right to seek the powers of a court for a more complete relief<sup>2</sup>.

The need for equitable relief in the present case is clear. The City could proceed against one or more of the Defendants and charge them with maintaining a nuisance and im-

---

<sup>2</sup>CJS. Injunctions, Sec. 124, Vol. 43, p. 671:

“Acts which are a menace to the public health or safety, or, as sometimes stated in greater detail, acts which are dangerous to human life, detrimental to public health, and the occasion of great public inconvenience and damage, may be enjoined. The power to issue an injunction in these circumstances belongs to the general powers possessed by courts of equity, and is also conferred by some statutes applicable to various situations or matters, and a municipality is authorized to sue for an injunction to prevent or restrain the violation of municipal police and sanitary regulations by a constitutional provision authorizing municipalities to enforce such regulations.



pose a fine on them. This relief would be temporary and possibly arbitrary. The City is in need of an adjudication as to whether or not the condition complained of is a nuisance and also an injunction which will relieve the inhabitants of the problem.

In an action brought in the State of California for injunctive relief against the keeping of 5 hogs as a public nuisance, People vs. Johnson, 277 P2d 45, the Court reaffirmed the language in the case of the City of Stockton vs. Frisbey and Latta, 93 C. A. 277, 270 P 270, it was held that where the personal welfare and property rights of a large number of the inhabitants of a city or town would be detrimentally affected by the violation of a police or sanitary regulation, whether the ordinance provides other means for its enforcement or not, such city or town may itself appeal to a court of equity by means of the forceful and singularly effective Writ of Injunction to restrain such violation or to cause the wrongful effect thereof to be removed.

We believe the reasoning of the California cases cited as well as cases from many other jurisdictions where cities have brought actions to enjoin a nuisance is not only persuasive but controlling. Some additional cases from other jurisdictions where cities have maintained actions for injunctive relief are: Colorado—Echove vs. Grants Junction, 193 P2d 277; Kansas City Brewery vs. Kansas City, 193 P 523; New Mexico—Town of Gallop vs. Constant, 11 P2d 962.

The evidence appears to be overwhelming and undisputed that the piggery maintained by the Arnold Hog Ranch personnel does constitute a public nuisance. It affects residents of Monroe City for a considerable distance from the hog ranch. In addition, it affects and is repulsive to persons traveling or walking on public streets near the piggery. The stench coming from the hog farm was characterized as "sour", "nauseating", "terrible", "sickening", and on occasions so bad that it was impossible to get out of doors in areas near the piggery.

Utah Statutes define a public nuisance. Although the statutes are criminal in nature, they do set a minimum standard which has been imposed by the Utah Legislature for the conduct of persons within the state. They are applicable here and in the same manner violations of the motor vehicles are applicable to show that a motorist has breached the standard of duty he owes to the public when a violation of one of the statutes is found.

Under Section 78-38-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, —  
“Nuisance” Defined — Right of Action for — Judgment:

“Anything which is injurious to health, or indecent, or offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, is a nuisance and the subject of an action. Such action may be brought by any person whose property is injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by nuisance; and by the judgment the nuisance may be enjoined or abated, and damages may also be recovered.” (emphasis added).

It is seen that a right of action is granted against any person who maintains a condition which is injurious to health, or indecent, or offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to the free use of property.

The offense complained of against the Arnold piggery clearly falls within this definition. It is classified as a nuisance which the city has an obligation to abate or prohibit.

The legislature then has enacted Section 76-43-3, “Public Nuisance” defined:

“A public nuisance is a crime against the order and economy of the state, and consists in lawfully doing any act, or omitting to perform any duty, which act or omission either:

- (1) Annoys, injures or endangers the comfort, repose, health, or safety of three or more persons; or
- (2) Offends public decency; or

(3) Unlawfully interferes with, obstructs or tends to obstruct, or renders dangerous for passage, any lake, stream, canal or basin, or any public park, square, street or highway; or

(4) In any way renders three or more persons insecure in life or the use of property.”

We think no additional argument is needed concerning the definition of public nuisance since the statutes cited generally follow the common law and citations from cases from other jurisdictions concerning common law nuisances would not be helpful to the Court. An informative annotation is found under title “Nuisance—Keeping Pigs” in 2 ALR3d 933. Some of the cases cited have found keeping of pigs in a city to be a nuisance per se.

## POINT II

### THE COURT CORRECTLY ADDED ADDITIONAL PARTIES DURING THE COURSE OF TRIAL.

The complaint of the Plaintiff was filed against Charles L. Arnold charging him with maintaining a public nuisance and seeking an injunction against its continued operation. He was called as Plaintiff’s first witness. He testified that he had lived on the property where the piggery is maintained for forty years (T. 5, Line 5); that he had been raising some pigs on the property for 26 or 27 years; that his operation had increased over the past few years over what it had been at earlier times (T. 5, Line 9 through 17); that the operation was also solely for his benefit and “there is nobody else benefits by it whatsoever, only me” (T. 8, Line 28). Upon cross examination, Mr. Baker attempted to identify Defendant’s proposed Exhibit “A”, which was a Warranty Deed dated in the year 1967, conveying title to the real property upon which the piggery is operated, to his sons Norris K. Arnold and Jon R. Arnold. An objection to the proposed exhibit was sustained on grounds that it was not material (T. 14).

Mr. Barker then made a proffer of proof that the Defendants Norris K. Arnold and Jon R. Arnold were in fact the operators of the piggery, and that they were the real parties in interest. Thereupon the Court recessed the matter for five minutes and requested that Counsel consult with him in Chambers. Since the matter of parties had not been specifically raised, the Court discussed with Counsel the following items: (1) If the two sons who claim to be in a partnership and actually operate the piggery were present in Court. Mr. Barker informed the Court they were. (2) If the two sons had employed the services of Mr. Barker and assisted in the defense. Mr. Barker informed the Court that this was the case. (3) Whether Mr. Barker's defense would be the same or substantially the same and the witnesses would be the same if the two Defendants were in the case. Mr. Barker answered this question in the affirmative. The Court's attention is invited to Findings of Fact No. 2 and 3, to which no objection has been taken.

The Court reconvened and a motion was made to join Defendants Norris K. Arnold and Jon R. Arnold as additional parties. Mr. Barker objected to any joinder at this stage in the proceedings (T. 16, Line 21). The Court requested that Mr. Barker show him whereby he would be prejudiced (T. 16, Line 26). Mr. Barker offered no showing that his clients would be prejudiced in any manner and requested only that his objection be noted. Thereupon, the motion to join the additional parties was granted (T. 17, Line 1 through 15). In the proceedings Norris K. Arnold, one of the added Defendants, testified that he and his brother, Jon R. Arnold, were the ones who engaged counsel to defend the action (T. 135, Line 23 through 25), and also that he had been contacted as soon as the complaint had been served (T. 15, Line 27). He acknowledged assisting the preparation of the exhibits which were introduced or attempted to be introduced, (T. 97 and 98). He and presumably his brother, Jon, had visited various spots in Monroe City and taken pictures of all of them in preparing the defense to be

asserted and introduced in proposed Exhibit "F" (T. 98, Line 9).

The Defendants were not prejudiced by the order joining additional parties. The very purpose of Rule 21, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was served and all of the issues were clearly before the Court.

It is seen that the added Defendants personally appeared in the action and took part in the proceedings after the Court had ruled that they were to be added as a party. In this manner they voluntarily submitted to the jurisdiction of the Court. The permitted joinder of the additional parties allowed the Defendants to introduce into evidence the Warranty Deed covering the property involved; the income tax returns for prior years showing the investment which was made in the property by the added Defendants. If the Court had refused to join the additional parties, these items would have been immaterial and the Defendant Charles L. Arnold would have been prohibited from showing any investment in the property or resulting damage to him if the Court enjoined him from maintaining a public nuisance and entered an order requiring him to abate it. However, the added Defendants voluntarily continued with the cause and argued to the Court that their investment should be considered to mitigate a permanent injunction.

Objection has been made to the jurisdiction of the Court over the added Defendants. Summons and complaint were not served upon the added Defendants but they were joined by amendment at the time of trial. There may have been some basis for the Defendants' argument had the added Defendants then not proceeded with the defense thereby submitting to the jurisdiction of the Court. The only possible prejudice which could have come to the added Defendants would have been the possibility of lack of time to prepare a defense. This was not asserted at any time and was in fact negated by the defense which was presented at the hearing. No request was ever made for a continuance for this purpose.

The granting of a motion to bring in additional parties to an action is not a matter of right but rather one of discretion and the order should not be disturbed unless abuse of discretion is shown.<sup>3</sup>

### POINT III

#### ABATEMENT OF THE HOG RANCH AND AN INJUNCTION AGAINST ITS OPERATION WAS AN AUTHORIZED AND NEEDED REMEDY.

We agree that injunctive relief is proper only to restrain the inflicting of substantial, serious and irreparable damages, and where there is no adequate remedy at law.

The facts of this case dramatize the need for that injunction. All of the testimony show that the relief granted by the District Court was the only practical solution to the problem of the inhabitants of Monroe City. The condition created and maintained by the Defendants was causing the neighbors in the residential area serious losses of the use of their own properties.

The odors were described as sour-sickening, nauseating and embarrassing (T. 87; 27-30; 39; 54; 62; 77; and 79). Travelers passing on city streets adjacent to the hog ranch were required to roll up their windows. Residents could not enjoy their homes and it became impossible to use their yards for recreational purposes and particularly for eating or picnicking. One young girl found it exceedingly embarrassing if she had boyfriends call at her home (T. 72). The noise prevented some neighbors from sleeping at night and the residents were exposed to constant health hazards from flies and dead animals. The sight of the manure piles, dead pigs, burning of flies and afterbirth were repulsive to the sense of sight.

---

<sup>3</sup>Barron and Holtzoff, Federal Practice and Procedure  
Vol. 2, Page 223

A review of these facts leave only one practical solution and that solution was reached by the District Court.

The Defendants attempted to have admitted evidence concerning other conditions in Monroe City which may have constituted a nuisance.

The District Court correctly excluded that evidence and particularly part of Exhibit "E" and the explanation thereof and the slide photographs and Exhibit "F" with a holding that the possibility of other nuisances existing in Monroe City would not excuse and authorize the Defendants to continue a nuisance.<sup>1</sup>

No foundation was laid to show that any of the odors, sights or sounds could have been coming from the areas proposed to be shown to the Court from the slides contained in Exhibit "F". No foundation was offered to connect the location sought to be shown to the problem before the Court. The evidence was overwhelming that the nuisance complained of was extreme and could not be tolerated in any setting.

The Defendants argue that the injunction order of the Court is too harsh and that the Court should have considered some other remedy which would in fact reduce the nuisance. This matter was argued before the Court and I am certain considered. The Court's view of the premises and consideration of the facts appeared to leave only one practical solution. It was shown that the sanitary method proposed by the Defendants of adding additional cement flooring in an entire corral was considered when the Court observed that the farrowing pens are now covered with cement. The cement actually contributes to and increases the obnoxious condition rather than abates it. Urine is able

---

<sup>1</sup>See Ludlow et al. vs. Colo. Animal By-Products Co., 104 U 22; 137 P2d 347. Mere fact that condition may already exist which may be obnoxious to some persons does not create a license for establishment of other more offensive conditions.

to accumulate on the cement and is required to evaporate rather than be taken into the soil or into a gravel surface. The manure and other accumulation are then required to be washed periodically. The water soaks up the material and washes it on to ground adjacent to the cement floor (T. 22, 23). It would be reasonable to find that the cemented condition actually increases the nuisance problem, although it may have some salutory effects so far as hog raising is concerned.

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